vascular

Vascular Pharmacology 90 (2017) 1–7

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Vascular Pharmacology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/vph

Review Diabetic microangiopathy: Pathogenetic insights and novel therapeutic approaches



Rosalinda Madonna ^{a,b}, Carmela Rita Balistreri ^c, Yong-Jian Geng ^b, Raffaele De Caterina ^{a,*}

^a Center of Excellence on Aging (CesiMet), Institute of Cardiology, Department of Neurosciences, Imaging and Clinical Sciences, "G. d'Annunzio" University, Chieti, Italy ^b The Texas Heart Institute, Center for Cardiovascular Biology and Atherosclerosis Research, Department of Internal Medicine, The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, Houston, TX, University Inited States

^c Department of Pathobiology and Medical Biotechnologies, University of Palermo, Palermo, Italy

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 9 January 2017 Accepted 26 January 2017 Available online 28 January 2017

Keywords: Diabetes Microangiopathy Diabetes retinopathy Cellular and molecular pathways

ABSTRACT

Diabetic microangiopathy, including retinopathy, is characterized by abnormal growth and leakage of small blood vessels, resulting in local edema and functional impairment of the depending tissues. Mechanisms leading to the impairment of microcirculation in diabetes are multiple and still largely unclear. However, a dysregulated vascular regeneration appears to play a key role. In addition, oxidative and hyperosmolar stress, as well as the activation of inflammatory pathways triggered by advanced glycation end-products and toll-like receptors, have been recognized as key underlying events. Here, we review recent knowledge on cellular and molecular pathways of microvascular disease in diabetes. We also highlight how new insights into pathogenic mechanisms of vascular damage in diabetes may indicate new targets for prevention and treatment.

© 2017 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction		
2.	Pathologic features of diabetic microvascular damage		
3.	Cellular and molecular pathways in diabetic microvascular disease		
	3.1. Endothelial cells and vascular smooth muscle cells		
	3.2. Endothelial progenitor cells		
	3.3. Circulating smooth muscle cell progenitors		
	3.4. Pericytes		
	3.5. Prominent role of the AGEs/RAGEs system		
	3.6. The TLR-2 and -4 inflammatory signaling pathways		
	3.7. Biophysical pathways: the role of hyperosmolar stress		
	3.8. Betaine and hyperglycemia-induced vascular damage		
4.	Conclusions		
Conflicts of interest declaration			
Refer	References		

Abbreviations: AGEs, advanced glycation end products; PKC, protein kinase C; DAG, diacylglycerol; ROS, reactive oxygen species; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor; VEGFR, vascular endothelial growth factor; ECs, endothelial cells; VSMCs, vascular smooth muscle cells; vWF, von Willebrand Factor; MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinase; MMPs, matrix metalloproteinases; PARP, poly-ADP-ribose polymerase; NF-κB, nuclear factor-kappa B; TLR, toll-like receptors; EPCs, endothelial progenitor; MCP, monocyte chemoattractant protein; SDF, stromal cell derived factor; Ang, angiopoietin; DPP-4, dipeptidyl peptidase-4; SMPCs, smooth muscle progenitor cells; BMP6, Bone morphogenetic protein 6; TNF, tumor necrosis factor; FOXO1, Forkhead box O1; CREB, cAMP-responsive element binding; PDGF, platelet-derived growth factor; TGF-β, Transforming growth factor β signaling; HMGB1, high mobility group box 1; IL, interleukin; VCAM, vascular cell adhesion molecule; ICAM, intercellular adhesion molecule; LPS, lipopolysaccharide; AQP1, Aquaporin-1; COX, Cycloxygenase; NFAT, nuclear factor of activated T; TonEBP, Tonicity-responsive binding-protein; FGF, fibroblast growth factor.

DOI of original article: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vph.2016.07.007.

* Corresponding author at: Institute of Cardiology, Department of Neurosciences, Imaging and Clinical Sciences, and Center of Excellence on Aging (CesiMet), "G. d'Annunzio" University - Chieti-Pescara C/o Ospedale SS. Annunziata, Via dei Vestini, 31, 66100 Chieti, Italy. Tel.: + 39 0871 41512; fax: + 39 0871 402817.

E-mail address: rdecater@unich.it (R. De Caterina).

1. Introduction

Macro- and microvascular complications are important causes of morbidity and mortality in patients with type 1 (T1DM) and type 2 diabetes (T2DM). The pathogenesis of vascular dysfunctions in diabetes is incompletely understood [1,2]. Hyperglycemia, a key feature of diabetes, is known to exacerbate macrovascular disease, but is also considered the main mechanism setting the stage for the onset of microvascular diseases, now the leading cause of blindness (retinopathy), end-stage renal failure (kidney disease), diabetic cardiomyopathy and peripheral neuropathy. One mechanism, possibly an important final common pathway, through which hyperglycemia causes or aggravates micro- and macrovascular damage, is oxidative stress caused by high glucose. It induces endothelial damage by triggering the polyol pathway, the formation of advanced glycation end products (AGEs), and the activation of the protein kinase C (PKC)-diacylglycerol (DAG) and hexosamine pathways (reviewed in [1,2]). The link between reactive oxygen species (ROS), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) signaling and retinal neovascularization in a condition mimicking hyperglycemia, is the focus of the research work by Park and co-authors published in this issue of Vascular Pharmacology [3]. Here, the authors found that betaine (trimethylglycine), a natural specific type of *zwitterion*, known to improve visual acuity, has antioxidant properties and inhibits pathological neovascularization of human retinal microvascular endothelial cells exposed to high glucose levels, by attenuating ROS production, and subsequently suppressing both the VEGF receptor (VEGFR)-2 signaling pathway and VEGF production [3]. Betaine was, here, reported to act on the hyperosmolar component of hyperglycemia [4], a biophysical mechanism known to contribute to the development of microvascular disease in diabetes [5-7]. Thus, betaine would act on one pathway leading from hyperglycemia to microangiopathy.

Other pathways, besides hyperosmolarity, are, however, recognized to contribute to diabetic microangiopathy. These include a dysregulated vessel regeneration and impaired function of vascular cells (*i.e.*, endo-thelial cells (ECs), vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs), stromal cells, pericytes, inflammatory cells, circulating and tissue-resident vascular stem/progenitor cells), all involved in the maintenance of vascular homeostasis and permeability [8,9]. The present review summarizes recent advances in the research of cellular and molecular pathways of microvascular disease in diabetes, provides insights into pathogenic mechanisms of vascular damage in diabetes, and indicates potential new targets for prevention and treatment strategies. This review should thus help putting the original work by Park et al. [3] in the broader context of the available pertinent literature.

2. Pathologic features of diabetic microvascular damage

Diabetic microvascular disease is pathologically characterized by abnormal growth and permeability of microcirculatory vessels [10]. Arterioles, capillaries and venules are the smallest functional unit of the microvascular bed. Unlike macrovessels, the specific role of which is to convey blood to the microcirculation in all organs and tissues, microvessels have specific roles in oxygen and micronutrient delivery. Permeability to small molecules, regulation in the physical dimensions and functional properties of the basement membrane are main microcirculatory features, which vary in different types of microvascular beds, such as the glomeruli, the retina, the myocardium, the skin and the muscle [10]. Apoptotic death of podocytes and pericytes are specific changes in diabetic microvessels, occurring in the kidney and in the retina, respectively [11]. In particular, in the diabetic retina pericytes undergo accelerated apoptosis, thereby contributing to an increase in vascular permeability and retinal edema [12]. Furthermore, the loss of pericytes activates a disordered capillarization, consisting of acellular capillaries and micro-aneurysms, which are responsible for impaired perfusion and consequent tissue hypoxia, as well as dysregulated neovascularization [12]. These aspects will be now described in greater detail.

3. Cellular and molecular pathways in diabetic microvascular disease

Endothelial cell damage and malfunction are common in diabetes, and contribute to the progressive loss of microvascular repair mechanisms [13]. Over the past decade, there has been increasing evidence that the integrity of the vascular wall is maintained by diversified cell populations, dedicated to endothelial repair and angiogenesis [8,9,14, 15]. Diabetic patients often show deterioration of those cell types, especially in the presence of other cardiovascular complications [13,16]. Since hyperglycemia negatively affects the growth reserve of progenitor cells and the cellular capacity of vessel wall repair, vascular complications of diabetes may reflect a "stem cell vasculopathy", in which the defective stem cell compartment is unable to regenerate dying ECs or VSMCs, or in which the dysfunctional stem cell compartment itself contributes to the development of the disease (Fig. 1).

3.1. Endothelial cells and vascular smooth muscle cells

Several studies have shown that exposure to high levels of glucose leads to a series of biochemical, structural and functional changes in mature vascular ECs and VSMCs, which can be summarized as follows [2, 17]: 1) biochemical changes: accumulation of advanced glycation endproducts (AGEs); increased production of the procoagulant protein von Willebrand Factor (VWF); increased apoptosis, induced by increased oxidative stress; increase in intracellular Ca²⁺; mitochondrial dysfunction; changes in intracellular metabolism of fatty acid; activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling pathways; and reduced phosphorylation/activation of protein kinase B (also known as Akt); 2) structural changes: increased production of extracellular matrix proteins, collagen and fibronectin, and of related enzymes (i.e., matrix metalloproteinases, MMPs); 3) functional changes: reduction in cell proliferation and migration; impairment of endothelium-dependent vasodilatation, linked to decreased production of vasodilators and increased production of vasoconstrictors; induction of ischemia and neo-angiogenesis [17]. In human retinal ECs, both the poly-ADP-ribose polymerase (PARP) and the nuclear factor-kappa B (NF-KB) signaling play central roles, as described below. Diabetic injury activates PARP, which in turn induces NF-KB activation preferentially through the toll-like receptor (TLR) signaling pathway, and causes cell apoptosis [18]. Similar to the NF-kB pathway, but with opposite biological effects, the evolutionarily conserved Notch-1 pathway, centered around Notch-1, a member of the Notch family of receptors involved both in stem/progenitor cell fate and orientation, and in the life cycle of adult cells, plays a key role in EC function regulation and VSMC proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis [19]. The existence of a fine interaction between these signaling pathways has been suggested, and growing evidence indicates a complex cooperation between Notch-1, TLR-4 and NF-KB [19]. Recent studies have found that apoptosis is increased in diabetic mice and in human retinal ECs treated *in vitro* with high glucose, through the activation of PARP and cleaved caspase-3, as well as through the reduced expression of Notch-1 and p-Akt. Notch-1 signaling participates in the interaction of PARP and the p50 NF-KB component, and inhibits PARP- and p50-mediated apoptosis. Thus, Notch-1 signaling protects human retinal ECs from PARP- and NF-KB-induced apoptosis occurring under high glucose [20]. In addition, human retinal ECs and VSMCs show aberrant expression of the Notch-1 ligand jagged 1, and abnormal angiogenesis [21].

The Wnt signaling pathway also plays a fundamental role in multiple physiological and pathological processes in ECs, including angiogenesis and inflammation [22]. The loss or gain of function of Wnt pathway components causes abnormal vascular development and angiogenesis. Mutations in Wnt co-receptors, such as Frizzled, or in other upstream



Fig. 1. Pathways associated with diabetic microangiopathy.

molecules result in severely defective retinal vascularization [22]. Furthermore, kallistatin, an endogenous Wnt antagonist, exerts antiangiogenic and anti-neuroinflammatory effects by inhibiting canonical Wnt signaling in murine models of diabetic retinopathy [23].

3.2. Endothelial progenitor cells

Diabetic patients develop vascular dysfunction together with impaired circulating endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs)-(see [24,25]) for reviews on characterization and current methods of isolation of EPCs)especially in the presence of comorbidities. While the percentage of EPCs (defined as CD34⁺/CD133⁺/VEGFR2⁺ cells) in a healthy adult subject is only 0.01% or less of peripheral blood mononuclear cells, in diabetic patients the number of EPCs is decreased, and later restored by intensive glycemic control [13,26]. EPCs have a therapeutic impact on cardiovascular tissue repair and regeneration by playing various roles in the formation of new blood vessels, including mobilization, migration, adhesion, differentiation of vascular cells, and the production of adequate circulating levels of growth factors and chemokines, necessary for tissue repair and regeneration [27-30]. In fact, experimental and clinical studies suggest that EPCs can home to sites of a pre-existing vessel, and from there form neovessels under the influence of VEGF, chemokines and integrins, including monocyte chemoattractant protein (MCP)-1, stromal cell derived factor-1 (SDF-1), angiopoietin (Ang-1) and the $\alpha 4\beta 1$ integrin [31–35]. Dysregulated levels of these molecules may contribute to a decrease in the number and function of EPCs in diabetes [31–34,36]. These defects are associated with a more rapid progression of microvascular disease [37]. Increasing EPC number and function might be a goal of stem cell-based cellular therapies for diabetic vascular disease. The therapeutic use of EPCs with restored numbers and functions has been proposed and put in practice in diabetes. For example, the chemokine SDF-1 is involved in the traffic of EPCs from the bone marrow to the peripheral blood, and directs EPC homing to damaged tissues [38]. Interestingly, SDF-1 is a physiologic substrate of the enzyme dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP-4, also known as CD26). Oral DPP-4 inhibitors are widely used for the treatment of T2DM, as they increase the bioavailability of incretin hormones, which regulate insulin release in response to a meal [39,40]. It has recently been shown that a 4-week treatment with the DPP-4 inhibitor sitagliptin in T2DM patients increases the number of circulating EPCs, with concomitant upregulation of SDF-1 levels [39]. Furthermore, mice that are deficient for DPP-4 (CD26 knock-out mice) are protected from ischemic myocardial injury, with a concomitant upregulation of tissue and plasma level of SDF-1 [41].

3.3. Circulating smooth muscle cell progenitors

Besides EPCs, peripheral blood also contains smooth muscle progenitor cells (SMPCs), also known as myofibroblast progenitor cells. Like EPCs, SMPCs can contribute to the repair and regeneration of atherosclerotic vessels [42]. SMPCs can be cultured from human peripheral blood mononuclear cells *in vitro* and express smooth muscle cell α -actin. More detailed cell subset analysis revealed that these cells may be derived from a population of CD14⁺/CD105⁺ monocyte-like cells. The abundance of CD14⁺/CD105⁺-derived SMPCs in the peripheral blood of patients with diabetes, expressing reduced expression of the antifibrotic bone morphogenetic protein 6 (BMP6) [43], are increased compared to healthy subjects [42]. Thus, diabetic patients may also have a disturbed balance in vascular progenitor cells involved not only in the maintenance of endothelial integrity (i.e., EPCs), but also in atherogenesis (i.e., SMPCs) and this is, at least in part, responsible for the increased susceptibility of the diabetic vessel wall to atherosclerosis and restenosis.

3.4. Pericytes

Vascular pericytes have recently come into the focus of investigators as key regulators of vascular maturation, stabilization and repair, therefore constituting potential targets for therapy [44]. Pericyte abundance, function and recruitment are remarkably altered in diabetes, contributing to microvascular damage in the retina, the kidney and the heart [45]. In fact, an early histopathologic feature of diabetic microangiopathy is the selective degeneration of pericytes in capillary vessels [46]. In the retina of diabetic patients, pericytes regress due to accelerated apoptosis, thus contributing to increased vascular permeability and retinal edema [47]. The loss of pericytes activates a disordered capillarization, represented by acellular capillaries and microaneurysms, which are responsible for areas of underperfusion of the depending tissues [48]. Mechanisms underlying pericyte apoptosis include the formation of AGEs and the tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α -dependent activation of the Forkhead box O1 (FOXO1) transcription factor [49–51]. Pericytes from healthy subjects contribute to reparative angiogenesis through paracrine mechanisms and the physical interaction with resident ECs, involving angiopoietin 1, platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF)-BB and cAMP-responsive element binding (CREB)/miR-132 [52]. In addition, pericytes promote the recruitment of proangiogenic CD14⁺/ CD16⁺ cells through a chemokine-mediated mechanism involving the fractalkine receptor CX3CR1 [52].

Transforming growth factor β signaling (TGF- β) is another pathway involved in the pathogenesis of diabetic retinopathy, because it regulates the differentiation of retinal pericytes during vascular development of the retina. In transgenic Tgfbr2^{Δ eye} mice, deletions in elements of the TGF- β pathway have been shown to determine the impairment of pericyte differentiation, which resulted in structural and functional changes in the retina that mimic those of diabetic retinopathy [53].

3.5. Prominent role of the AGEs/RAGEs system

Increased production of AGEs via non-enzymatic glycation and glycoxidation processes is one of the most important mechanisms involved in the pathophysiology of micro- and macrovascular complications of diabetes [54-57] (Figure 1). The intracellular accumulation of AGEs and their interaction with associated receptors, RAGEs, alter the cytoplasmic and transcription nuclear factors, including proteins involved in the regulation of gene transcription [57]. AGEs also lead to the formation of stable cross-links with collagen, which causes chemical and biophysical changes of collagen structure and consequent functional changes, such as a thickening of the basement membrane and increased resistance to proteolytic digestion [58]. In addition, AGEs/ RAGEs interaction leads to cellular signaling, including NF-KB activation, increased expression of cytokines and adhesion molecules, induction of oxidative stress, and increased formation of cytosolic ROS [59]. A number of RAGE ligands have been identified in diabetic patients, including members of the S100 calgranulin family and high mobility group box 1 (HMGB1). The interaction of these ligands with RAGEs can trigger the interaction with TLRs and innate immune system signaling molecules, particularly TLR-4 [59]. Furthermore, a new class of molecules, the soluble RAGEs (sRAGEs), has recently added its contribution to this complex scenario. The total pool of sRAGEs in the plasma is involved in a wide range of micro- and macrovascular damage, even in non-diabetic subjects [60]. Several variants of sRAGEs exist, including endogenous soluble RAGEs (esRAGEs) and circulating truncated variants of the RAGE isoform, which are able to neutralize the AGE-mediated damage by competing with cell-surface RAGEs for ligand binding. Therefore, esRAGEs are an expression of the antioxidant status, with a key role in protection against early vascular damage [61]. Among all the biochemical mechanisms involved in diabetic vascular damage, the AGE pathway appears to be the most important in the pathogenesis and progression of microvascular complications. AGEs have multiple intraand extracellular targets. As a result, they can be seen as a "bridge" between the intracellular and extracellular damage. Moreover, whatever the level of hyperglycemia, AGE-related intracellular glycation of mitochondrial respiratory chain proteins has been found to produce more abundant ROS [62], which further promotes AGE formation. Excessive AGE formation leads to a thickening of the microvessel, hypertension, endothelial dysfunction, loss of pericytes, decreased platelet survival and increased platelet aggregation. All these abnormalities may promote a procoagulant state, resulting in ischemia and induction of growth factors, with angiogenesis and neovascularization [63].

3.6. The TLR-2 and -4 inflammatory signaling pathways

Inflammation is one of the key events that characterizes the early steps of diabetic microangiopathy (Fig. 1). Accordingly, the activation of NF-KB caused by high glucose determines an enhanced expression

of various inflammatory molecules and evokes inflammatory responses in monocyte/macrophages, the microglia, and retinal ECs. In addition, TLR-2 and -4 signaling pathways appear to be the main triggers of these inflammatory responses. Recent *in vitro* studies have shown that high concentrations of glucose significantly increase TLR-2 and TLR-4 mRNA and protein expression in human microvascular ECs, as well as the activation of NF-κB p65, the expression of inflammatory markers such as interleukin (IL)-8, IL-1β, TNF- α , MCP-1, and vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM)-1 and intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1 [64,65]. All these events were reversed by TLR-4 or TLR-2 inhibition, or dual inhibition of these pathways by TLR4/2 inhibitory peptide. In addition, antioxidant treatments reduce TLR-2 and TLR-4 expression and downstream inflammatory events. Collectively, these data suggest that hyperglycemia induces TLR-2 and TLR-4 activation and downstream inflammatory signaling, possibly through ROS [65].

The crucial role of TLR-4 was also confirmed by data showing that deletions or mutations in the TLR-4 gene may either protect against or exacerbate fatty acid-induced insulin resistance and obesity induced by diet [66–68]. A + 896 A > G single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) causes the substitution of Asp299 with Gly, modifying the normal structure of extracellular region of TLR-4. This + 896 A > G TLR-4 polymorphism may be associated with decreased ligand recognition or protein interaction, and altered responsiveness to lipopolysaccharide (LPS). In particular, T2DM patients carrying the AG or the GG genotypes feature an increased risk of developing retinopathy compared with patients carrying the AA genotype [69–71].

3.7. Biophysical pathways: the role of hyperosmolar stress

The hyperosmolar component of hyperglycemia is an important biophysical mediator of diabetic vascular disease [72] (Fig. 1). In overt T1DM and T2DM, hyperglycemia causes an increase in plasma osmolarity, resulting in the osmotic efflux of water, which reduces the intracellular volume (cell shrinking) and promotes adaptive responses, including the activation of hyperosmolarity-responsive genes, involved in glucotoxicity and vascular injury [73]. Aquaporin-1 (AQP1) [74] is an example of proteins induced by hyperosmolarity. Aquaporins are a family of 10 different water-specific, membrane-channel proteins expressed in diverse tissues [74]. Aquaporins have been shown to play an important role in controlling the interplay between vascular permeability and angiogenesis [74]. AQP1 is a membrane water channel playing an important role in increasing the water permeability of cell membranes and promoting the water transport across cells driven by osmotic pressure. AOP1 is specifically and strongly expressed in many microvascular ECs outside the brain, in adult and embryonic fibroblasts, in the retina and in adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells [74], and has a promoting role in angiogenesis and vascular development [75]. AQP1 is also expressed in atherosclerotic lesions following balloon injury, especially in neointimal VSMCs [76].

Cycloxygenase (COX)-2 has prominent pro-angiogenic effects [77]. COX-2, which is induced by cytokines, mitogens and endotoxin, regulates the expression and activity of MMP-9 [78]. Although the role of COX-2 in atherothrombosis remains controversial [79], endothelial COX-2 and MMPs have been shown to co-localize in unstable plaques and the retina, where they play an essential role in angiogenesis and related complications, such as plaque destabilization [80], as well as proliferative diabetic retinopathy [6], both characterized by excessive angiogenesis [8,81]. MMP-9 is strongly induced by cytokines in macro- and microvascular endothelial cells, while MMP-2 is refractory to these stimuli or less markedly induced [82]. In human monocyte/ macrophages [83], and ECs [83], high glucose was shown to induce the expression of MMP-2 and -9, and of COX-2. The transcription factor, Tonicity-responsive binding-protein TonEBP/NFAT5, also called nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT)-5, is the molecular link between hyperosmotic stress and pro-inflammatory/proangiogenic molecules, such as COX-2 and MMPs. TonEBP/NFAT5 is a master transcription factor of osmosensing genes responsive to hyperosmolar stress, including pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α in macrophages [84]. In renal medullary epithelial cells, hyperosmolar stress increases COX-2 promoter activity in a luciferase reporter assay [85,86]. In addition, hypertonic saline has been reported to induce COX-2 in rat macrophages [87] and human ECs [88]. The participation of NFAT transcription factors in COX-2 activation was also already shown in several additional cell types [89–94]. In fact, previous research had shown that the angiogenic signaling involved in the induction of COX-2 by VEGF in human ECs requires the activation of NFAT proteins [91]. Furthermore, TonEBP/ NFAT5 is necessary for the hyperosmolar induction of COX-2 in renal epithelial cells [89]. An upregulation of the NFAT/MMP-2 pathway was also demonstrated in the development of metastatic osteosarcoma, where the secretion of active MMP-2 is under the transcriptional regulation of NFAT [90]. We have demonstrated that induction of COX-2 in microvascular endothelial cells and in the retina of diabetic Ins2Akita mice is largely hyperosmolarity-related, and that TonEBP/NFAT5 is here involved [6]. We have also shown that, in diabetic Ins2Akita mice, retinal COX-2 and AOP1 are upregulated in conjunction with increased angiogenesis [6]. Finally, interruption of the AOP1 axis by siRNA attenuated in vivo angiogenesis in response to high glucose [6]. These results showed that the hyperosmolar stress is a biophysical mechanism through which excessive angiogenesis can occur in diabetes.

3.8. Betaine and hyperglycemia-induced vascular damage

Betaine is an organic osmolyte, which serves as a source of methyl groups and plays a role in the control of the osmotic pressure inside the intestinal epithelial cells and renal cells. Betaine usually derives from the diet or choline oxidation. Betaine methylates homocysteine to methionine, also producing N,N-dimethylglycine. Betaine is important in development, from pre-implantation embryo to infancy. Betaine failure may contribute to metabolic syndromes, including lipid disorders and diabetes, and may have a role in atherosclerosis and other diseases [95]. Betaine supplementation improves animal health, but the effect of its long-term supplementation in humans is not known, although reports that it improves athletic performance will stimulate further studies. Subgroups of subjects that may benefit from betaine supplementation could be identified in the laboratory, particularly those who lose betaine excessively through the urine. Plasma betaine levels are highly variable, being typically 20-60 µM/L in women and 25–75 μ M/L in men. Plasma dimethylglycine is typically <10 μ M/L. Urine betaine excretion is minimal, even after a large dose of betaine. It is constant, highly variable among individuals, and usually <-35 mmol/mol creatinine

In this issue of *Vascular Pharmacology*, Park et al. [3] report that betaine inhibits retinal neovascularization associated with oxidative stress and the *in vitro* growth of human retinal microvascular ECs. This study demonstrates that betaine attenuates ROS production, and subsequently suppresses VEGFR-2 signaling pathway and VEGF production. Dietary betaine supplementation has been shown to increase fibroblast growth factor (FGF)21 levels, to improve glucose homeostasis, and to reduce the hepatic lipid accumulation in mice [96]. Betaine plasma levels in humans are reduced in insulin-resistant conditions, and correlate closely with insulin sensitivity. However, betaine administration failed to improve glucose homeostasis and fat content in the liver of FGF21 knockout mice, suggesting that FGF21 is required for the beneficial effects of betaine. Taken together, betaine supplementation warrants further investigation as a nutritional supplement for patients with T2DM for its effects on diabetic microvasculopathy.

4. Conclusions

A significant number of promising therapeutic targets have been shown in preclinical models of diabetic microangiopathy, as summarized and discussed above. In humans, at present, the most effective strategy to prevent microvascular complications of diabetes still remains, however, the intensive treatment of hyperglycemia or the improvement of glycometabolic control. While glycemic control has still uncertain results in controlling macrovascular complications, its role in curbing the risk of retinopathy is clear [1,2]. While we eagerly wait for better insights into the pathogenesis of diabetic microangiopathy to explore new therapeutic options, our best goal at present still is to continue to ensure a tighter glycemic control in diabetic patients. This step should be taken as early as possible in the natural history of the disease, as it is currently the only viable option for preventing and slowing down the progression of diabetic microangiopathy [97–100].

Conflicts of interest declaration

The authors declare no conflicts of interest as to the content of this review paper.

References

- R. Madonna, R. De Caterina, Cellular and molecular mechanisms of vascular injury in diabetes-part I: pathways of vascular disease in diabetes, Vasc. Pharmacol. 54 (2011) 68–74.
- [2] R. Madonna, R. De Caterina, Cellular and molecular mechanisms of vascular injury in diabetes-part II: cellular mechanisms and therapeutic targets, Vasc. Pharmacol. 54 (2011) 75–79.
- [3] S.W. Park, H.O. Jun, E. Kwon, et al., Antiangiogenic effect of betaine on pathologic retinal neovascularization via suppression of reactive oxygen species mediated vascular endothelial growth factor signaling, Vasc. Pharmacol. 90 (2017) 19–26.
- [4] V. Nadkarni, K.H. Gabbay, K.M. Bohren, et al., Osmotic response element enhancer activity. Regulation through p38 kinase and mitogen-activated extracellular signalregulated kinase kinase, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 20185–20190.
- [5] C.W. Park, J.H. Kim, J.H. Lee, et al., High glucose-induced intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) expression through an osmotic effect in rat mesangial cells is PKC-NF-kappa B-dependent, Diabetologia 43 (2000) 1544–1553.
- [6] R. Madonna, G. Giovannelli, P. Confalone, et al., High glucose-induced hyperosmolarity contributes to COX-2 expression and angiogenesis: implications for diabetic retinopathy, Cardiovasc. Diabetol. 15 (2016) 18.
- [7] C. Brocker, D.C. Thompson, V. Vasiliou, The role of hyperosmotic stress in inflammation and disease, Biomol. Concepts 3 (2012) 345–364.
- [8] P.J. Psaltis, R.D. Simari, Vascular wall progenitor cells in health and disease, Circ. Res. 116 (2015) 1392–1412.
- [9] P.J. Psaltis, A.S. Puranik, D.B. Spoon, et al., Characterization of a resident population of adventitial macrophage progenitor cells in postnatal vasculature, Circ. Res. 115 (2014) 364–375.
- [10] Ž. He, C. Rask-Madsen, G.L. King, Pathogenesis of Diabetic Microvascular Complications, John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken, NJ, 2004.
- [11] G. Wolf, S. Chen, F.N. Ziyadeh, From the periphery of the glomerular capillary wall toward the center of disease: podocyte injury comes of age in diabetic nephropathy, Diabetes 54 (2005) 1626–1634.
- [12] S. Ejaz, I. Chekarova, A. Ejaz, et al., Importance of pericytes and mechanisms of pericyte loss during diabetes retinopathy, Diabetes Obes. Metab. 10 (2008) 53–63.
- [13] G.P. Fadini, F. Ferraro, F. Quaini, et al., Concise review: diabetes, the bone marrow niche, and impaired vascular regeneration, Stem Cells Transl. Med. 3 (2014) 949–957.
- [14] M.W. Majesky, X.R. Dong, J.N. Regan, et al., Vascular smooth muscle progenitor cells: building and repairing blood vessels, Circ. Res. 108 (2011) 365–377.
- [15] E. Zengin, F. Chalajour, U.M. Gehling, et al., Vascular wall resident progenitor cells: a source for postnatal vasculogenesis, Development 133 (2006) 1543–1551.
- [16] R. Madonna, G. Novo, C.R. Balistreri, Cellular and molecular basis of the imbalance between vascular damage and repair in ageing and age-related diseases: as biomarkers and targets for new treatments, Mech. Ageing Dev. 159 (2016) 22–30.
- [17] E.C. Keats, Z.A. Khan, Vascular stem cells in diabetic complications: evidence for a role in the pathogenesis and the therapeutic promise, Cardiovasc. Diabetol. 11 (2012) 37.
- [18] C.R. Balistreri, G. Candore, G. Accardi, et al., NF-kappaB pathway activators as potential ageing biomarkers: targets for new therapeutic strategies, Immun. Ageing 10 (2013) 24.
- [19] C.R. Balistreri, R. Madonna, G. Melino, et al., The emerging role of Notch pathway in ageing: focus on the related mechanisms in age-related diseases, Ageing Res. Rev. 29 (2016) 50–65.
- [20] X. Qin, Z. Zhang, H. Xu, et al., Notch signaling protects retina from nuclear factorkappaB- and poly-ADP-ribose-polymerase-mediated apoptosis under highglucose stimulation, Acta Biochim. Biophys. Sin. Shanghai 43 (2011) 703–711.
- [21] C.H. Yoon, Y.E. Choi, S.J. Koh, et al., High glucose-induced jagged 1 in endothelial cells disturbs notch signaling for angiogenesis: a novel mechanism of diabetic vasculopathy, J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 69 (2014) 52–66.
- [22] L. Zhao, S.H. Patel, J. Pei, et al., Antagonizing Wnt pathway in diabetic retinopathy, Diabetes 62 (2013) 3993–3995.
- [23] X. Liu, B. Zhang, J.D. McBride, et al., Antiangiogenic and antineuroinflammatory effects of kallistatin through interactions with the canonical Wnt pathway, Diabetes 62 (2013) 4228–4238.
- [24] D.P. Basile, M.C. Yoder, Circulating and tissue resident endothelial progenitor cells, J. Cell. Physiol. 229 (2014) 10–16.

- [25] R. Madonna, R. De Caterina, Circulating endothelial progenitor cells: do they live up to their name? Vasc. Pharmacol. 67-69 (2015) 2-5.
- [26] M.R. De Pascale, G. Bruzzese, E. Crimi, et al., Severe type 2 diabetes induces reversible modifications of endothelial progenitor cells which are ameliorate by glycemic
- control, Int. J. Stem Cells 9 (2016) 137–144.
 [27] S.E. Newey, G. Tsaknakis, C.P. Khoo, et al., The hematopoietic chemokine CXCL12 promotes integration of human endothelial colony forming cell-derived cells into immature vessel networks, Stem Cells Dev. 23 (2014) 2730-2743.
- [28] B.R. Hoffmann, J.R. Wagner, A.R. Prisco, et al., Vascular endothelial growth factor-A signaling in bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells exposed to hypoxic stress, Physiol. Genomics 45 (2013) 1021–1034.
- [29] L.S. Barcelos, C. Duplaa, N. Krankel, et al., Human CD133 + progenitor cells promote the healing of diabetic ischemic ulcers by paracrine stimulation of angiogenesis and activation of Wnt signaling, Circ. Res. 104 (2009) 1095–1102.
- [30] C. Urbich, A. Aicher, C. Heeschen, et al., Soluble factors released by endothelial progenitor cells promote migration of endothelial cells and cardiac resident progenitor cells, J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 39 (2005) 733-742.
- [31] W.T. Abplanalp, D.J. Conklin, J.M. Cantor, et al., Enhanced integrin alpha4beta1-mediated adhesion contributes to a mobilization defect of endothelial progenitor cells in diabetes, Diabetes (2016).
- [32] S. Balaji, N. Han, C. Moles, et al., Angiopoietin-1 improves endothelial progenitor cell-dependent neovascularization in diabetic wounds, Surgery 158 (2015) 846-856
- [33] T.T. Chang, T.C. Wu, P.H. Huang, et al., Direct renin inhibition with Aliskiren improves ischemia-induced neovasculogenesis in diabetic animals via the SDF-1 related mechanism, PLoS One 10 (2015), e0136627. .
- [34] K. Wu, Y. Yang, Y. Zhong, et al., The effects of microvesicles on endothelial progen-itor cells are compromised in type 2 diabetic patients via downregulation of the miR-126/VEGFR2 pathway, Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 310 (2016) E828-E837
- [35] J.X. Chen, A. Stinnett, Ang-1 gene therapy inhibits hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha (HIF-1alpha)-prolyl-4-hydroxylase-2, stabilizes HIF-1alpha expression, and normalizes immature vasculature in db/db mice, Diabetes 57 (2008) 3335-3343.
- J. Zhang, X. Zhang, H. Li, et al., Hyperglycemia exerts deleterious effects on late en-[36] dothelial progenitor cell secretion actions, Diab. Vasc. Dis. Res. 10 (2013) 49-56.
- [37] M. Rigato, C. Bittante, M. Albiero, et al., Circulating progenitor cell count predicts microvascular outcomes in type 2 diabetic patients, J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 100 (2015) 2666-2672
- [38] E. De Falco, D. Porcelli, A.R. Torella, et al., SDF-1 involvement in endothelial phenotype and ischemia-induced recruitment of bone marrow progenitor cells, Blood 104 (2004) 3472-3482.
- [39] G.P. Fadini, E. Boscaro, M. Albiero, et al., The oral dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor sitagliptin increases circulating endothelial progenitor cells in patients with type 2 diabetes: possible role of stromal-derived factor-1alpha, Diabetes Care 33 (2010) 1607–1609
- [40] M. Anderluh, G. Kocic, K. Tomovic, et al., Cross-talk between the dipeptidyl peptidase-4 and stromal cell-derived factor-1 in stem cell homing and myocardial repair: potential impact of dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors, Pharmacol. Ther. 167 (2016) 100-107.
- [41] A. Avogaro, S. de Kreutzenberg, G. Fadini, Dipeptidyl-peptidase 4 inhibition: linking metabolic control to cardiovascular protection. Curr. Pharm. Des. 20 (2014) 2387-2394
- [42] A. Saiura, M. Sata, Y. Hirata, et al., Circulating smooth muscle progenitor cells contribute to atherosclerosis, Nat. Med. 7 (2001) 382-383.
- [43] L.H. Dong, P. Lv, M. Han, Roles of SM22alpha in cellular plasticity and vascular diseases, Cardiovasc. Hematol. Disord. Drug Targets 12 (2012) 119-125.
- [44] C.N. Hall, C. Reynell, B. Gesslein, et al., Capillary pericytes regulate cerebral blood flow in health and disease, Nature 508 (2014) 55–60.
- [45] H.P. Hammes, J. Lin, O. Renner, et al., Pericytes and the pathogenesis of diabetic retinopathy, Diabetes 51 (2002) 3107-3112.
- [46] J.T. Durham, B.M. Dulmovits, S.M. Cronk, et al., Pericyte chemomechanics and the angiogenic switch: insights into the pathogenesis of proliferative diabetic retinopathy? Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 56 (2015) 3441-3459.
- [47] S. Suarez, G.W. McCollum, A. Jayagopal, et al., High glucose-induced retinal pericyte apoptosis depends on association of GAPDH and Siah1, J. Biol. Chem. 290 (2015) 28311-28320.
- [48] F. Pfister, Y. Feng, F. vom Hagen, et al., Pericyte migration: a novel mechanism of pericyte loss in experimental diabetic retinopathy, Diabetes 57 (2008) 2495-2502.
- [49] M. Alikhani, S. Roy, D.T. Graves, FOXO1 plays an essential role in apoptosis of retinal pericytes, Mol. Vis. 16 (2010) 408-415.
- [50] Y. Behl, P. Krothapalli, T. Desta, et al., Diabetes-enhanced tumor necrosis factoralpha production promotes apoptosis and the loss of retinal microvascular cells in type 1 and type 2 models of diabetic retinopathy, Am. J. Pathol. 172 (2008) 1411–1418.
- [51] J. Kim, C.S. Kim, E. Sohn, et al., KIOM-79 protects AGE-induced retinal pericyte apoptosis via inhibition of NF-kappaB activation in vitro and in vivo, PLoS One 7 (2012), e43591.
- [52] R. Katare, F. Riu, K. Mitchell, et al., Transplantation of human pericyte progenitor cells improves the repair of infarcted heart through activation of an angiogenic program involving micro-RNA-132, Circ. Res. 109 (2011) 894–906.
- [53] B.M. Braunger, S.V. Leimbeck, A. Schlecht, et al., Deletion of ocular transforming growth factor beta signaling mimics essential characteristics of diabetic retinopathy, Am. J. Pathol. 185 (2015) 1749–1768.
- M. Brownlee, Biochemistry and molecular cell biology of diabetic complications, [54] Nature 414 (2001) 813-820.
- [55] F. Piarulli, G. Sartore, A. Ceriello, et al., Relationship between glyco-oxidation, antioxidant status and microalbuminuria in type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetologia 52 (2009) 1419-1425.
- A. Lapolla, F. Piarulli, G. Sartore, et al., Advanced glycation end products and antiox-[56] idant status in type 2 diabetic patients with and without peripheral artery disease, Diabetes Care 30 (2007) 670-676.

- [57] G. Pugliese, Do advanced glycation end products contribute to the development of long-term diabetic complications? Nutr. Metab. Cardiovasc. Dis. 18 (2008) 457–460.
- [58] D.R. Sell, A. Lapolla, P. Odetti, et al., Pentosidine formation in skin correlates with severity of complications in individuals with long-standing IDDM, Diabetes 41 (1992) 1286-1292.
- [59] F. Piarulli, G. Sartore, A. Lapolla, Glyco-oxidation and cardiovascular complications in type 2 diabetes: a clinical update. Acta Diabetol. 50 (2013) 101–110.
- [60] K. Dimitriadis, C. Tsioufis, A. Kasiakogias, et al., Soluble receptor for advanced glycation end-product levels are related to albuminuria and arterial stiffness in esential hypertension, Nutr. Metab. Cardiovasc. Dis. 23 (2013) 382–388.
- [61] F. Piarulli, A. Lapolla, E. Ragazzi, et al., Role of endogenous secretory RAGE (esRAGE) in defending against plaque formation induced by oxidative stress in type 2 diabetic patients, Atherosclerosis 226 (2013) 252–257.
- [62] M.G. Rosca, T.G. Mustata, M.T. Kinter, et al., Glycation of mitochondrial proteins from diabetic rat kidney is associated with excess superoxide formation, Am. J. Physiol. Ren. Physiol. 289 (2005) F420-F430.
- D.A. Antonetti, A.J. Barber, S.K. Bronson, et al., Diabetic retinopathy: seeing beyond [63] glucose-induced microvascular disease, Diabetes 55 (2006) 2401-2411.
- [64] M. Zhao, C.H. Li, Y.L. Liu, Toll-like receptor (TLR)-2/4 expression in retinal ganglion cells in a high-glucose environment and its implications, Genet. Mol. Res. 15 (2016).
- [65] U. Rajamani, I. Jialal, Hyperglycemia induces toll-like receptor-2 and -4 expression and activity in human microvascular retinal endothelial cells: implications for diabetic retinopathy, J. Diabetes Res. 2014 (2014) 790902.
- [66] H. Shi, M.V. Kokoeva, K. Inouye, et al., TLR4 links innate immunity and fatty acidinduced insulin resistance, J. Clin. Invest. 116 (2006) 3015–3025.
- [67] D.M. Tsukumo, M.A. Carvalho-Filho, J.B. Carvalheira, et al., Loss-of-function mutation in toll-like receptor 4 prevents diet-induced obesity and insulin resistance, Diabetes 56 (2007) 1986–1998.
- [68] T. Suganami, T. Mieda, M. Itoh, et al., Attenuation of obesity-induced adipose tissue inflammation in C3H/HeJ mice carrying a toll-like receptor 4 mutation, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 354 (2007) 45-49.
- [69] C.R. Balistreri, A.R. Bonfigli, M. Boemi, et al., Evidences of +896 A/G TLR4 polymorphism as an indicative of prevalence of complications in T2DM patients, Mediat. Inflamm. 2014 (2014) 973139.
- [70] M. Buraczynska, I. Baranowicz-Gaszczyk, J. Tarach, et al., Toll-like receptor 4 gene polymorphism and early onset of diabetic retinopathy in patients with type 2 diapetes, Hum. Immunol. 70 (2009) 121–124.
- [71] F.S. Belforte, F. Coluccio Leskow, E. Poskus, et al., Toll-like receptor 4 D299G polymorphism in metabolic disorders: a meta-analysis, Mol. Biol. Rep. 40 (2013) 3015-3020.
- [72] P.R. Bratusch-Marrain, R.A. DeFronzo, Impairment of insulin-mediated glucose metabolism by hyperosmolality in man. Diabetes 32 (1983) 1028–1034.
- [73] A. Schaffler, H. Arndt, J. Scholmerich, et al., Amelioration of hyperglycemic and hyperosmotic induced vascular dysfunction by in vivo inhibition of protein kinase C and p38 MAP kinase pathway in the rat mesenteric microcirculation, Eur. J. Clin. Investig. 30 (2000) 586-593.
- A.S. Verkman, Aquaporins at a glance, J. Cell Sci. 124 (2011) 2107-2112.
- Ì75Ì S. Saadoun, M.C. Papadopoulos, M. Hara-Chikuma, et al., Impairment of angiogenesis and cell migration by targeted aquaporin-1 gene disruption, Nature 434 (2005) 786-792.
- [76] C.M. Shanahan, D.L. Connolly, K.L. Tyson, et al., Aquaporin-1 is expressed by vascular smooth muscle cells and mediates rapid water transport across vascular cell membranes, J. Vasc. Res. 36 (1999) 353-362.
- [77] J.L. Masferrer, K.M. Leahy, A.T. Koki, et al., Antiangiogenic and antitumor activities of cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors, Cancer Res. 60 (2000) 1306–1311. [78] H. Amano, Y. Ito, T. Suzuki, et al., Roles of a prostaglandin E-type receptor, EP3, in
- upregulation of matrix metalloproteinase-9 and vascular endothelial growth factor during enhancement of tumor metastasis, Cancer Sci. (2009).
- [79] G. Spektor, V. Fuster, Drug insight: cyclo-oxygenase 2 inhibitors and cardiovascular risk—where are we now? Nat. Clin. Pract. Cardiovasc. Med. 2 (2005) 290–300
- [80] P. Libby, Molecular bases of the acute coronary syndromes, Circulation 91 (1995) 2844-2850
- [81] R.N. Frank, Diabetic retinopathy, N. Engl. J. Med. 350 (2004) 48–58.
 [82] R. Hanemaaijer, P. Koolwijk, L. le Clercq, et al., Regulation of matrix metalloproteinase expression in human vein and microvascular endothelial cells. Effects of tumour necrosis factor alpha, interleukin 1 and phorbol ester, Biochem. J. 296 (Pt 3) (1993) 803-809.
- [83] A.K. Death, E.J. Fisher, K.C. McGrath, et al., High glucose alters matrix metalloproteinase expression in two key vascular cells: potential impact on atherosclerosis in diabetes, Atherosclerosis 168 (2003) 263-269.
- [84] J.H. Esensten, A.V. Tsytsykova, C. Lopez-Rodriguez, et al., NFAT5 binds to the TNF promoter distinctly from NFATp, c, 3 and 4, and activates TNF transcription during hypertonic stress alone, Nucleic Acids Res. 33 (2005) 3845–3854.
- [85] H. Zhao, W. Tian, C. Tai, et al., Hypertonic induction of COX-2 expression in renal medullary epithelial cells requires transactivation of the EGFR, Am. J. Physiol. Ren. Physiol. 285 (2003) F281-F288.
- [86] M.L. Pucci, S. Endo, T. Nomura, et al., Coordinate control of prostaglandin E2 synthesis and uptake by hyperosmolarity in renal medullary interstitial cells, Am. J. Physiol. Ren. Physiol. 290 (2006) F641-F649.
- [87] W. Zhang, E. Zitron, M. Homme, et al., Aquaporin-1 channel function is positively regulated by protein kinase C, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (2007) 20933-20940.
- [88] S. Arbabi, M.R. Rosengart, I. Garcia, et al., Hypertonic saline solution induces prostacyclin production by increasing cyclooxygenase-2 expression, Surgery 128 (2000) 198-205.
- [89] N.O. Favale, C.I. Casali, L.G. Lepera, et al., Hypertonic induction of COX2 expression requires TonEBP/NFAT5 in renal epithelial cells. Biochem, Biophys, Res, Commun. 381 (2009) 301-305.
- P. Velupillai, C.K. Sung, Y. Tian, et al., Polyoma virus-induced osteosarcomas in inbred strains of mice: host determinants of metastasis, PLoS Pathog. 6 (2010), e1000733.

- [91] G.L. Hernandez, O.V. Volpert, M.A. Iniguez, et al., Selective inhibition of vascular endothelial growth factor-mediated angiogenesis by cyclosporin A: roles of the nuclear factor of activated T cells and cyclooxygenase 2, J. Exp. Med. 193 (2001) 607–620.
- [92] J. Duque, M. Fresno, M.A. Iniguez, Expression and function of the nuclear factor of activated T cells in colon carcinoma cells: involvement in the regulation of cyclooxygenase-2, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 8686–8693.
- [93] G.K. Yiu, A. Toker, NFAT induces breast cancer cell invasion by promoting the induction of cyclooxygenase-2, J. Biol. Chem. 281 (2006) 12210–12217.
- [94] Y. Yan, J. Li, W. Ouyang, et al., NFAT3 is specifically required for TNF-alpha-induced cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) expression and transformation of Cl41 cells, J. Cell Sci. 119 (2006) 2985–2994.
- [95] M. Lever, S. Slow, The clinical significance of betaine, an osmolyte with a key role in methyl group metabolism, Clin. Biochem. 43 (2010) 732–744.
 [96] A. Ejaz, L. Martinez-Guino, A.B. Goldfine, et al., Dietary betaine supplementation in-
- [96] A. Ejaz, L. Martinez-Guino, A.B. Goldfine, et al., Dietary betaine supplementation increases Fgf21 levels to improve glucose homeostasis and reduce hepatic lipid accumulation in mice, Diabetes 65 (2016) 902–912.
- [97] The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial Research Group, The effect of intensive treatment of diabetes on the development and progression of long-term complications in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus, N. Engl. J. Med. 329 (1993) 977–986.
- [98] The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial Research Group, Effect of intensive diabetes treatment on the development and progression of long-term complications in adolescents with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus: Diabetes Control and Complications Trial, J. Pediatr. 125 (1994) 177–188.
- [99] D.M. Nathan, P.A. Cleary, J.Y. Backlund, et al., Intensive diabetes treatment and cardiovascular disease in patients with type 1 diabetes, N. Engl. J. Med. 353 (2005) 2643–2653.
- [100] R.R. Holman, S.K. Paul, M.A. Bethel, et al., 10-year follow-up of intensive glucose control in type 2 diabetes, N. Engl. J. Med. 359 (2008) 1577–1589.